NATIONAL INDIAN GAMING COMMISSION

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

NOV-11-02

TO: Karen Diver, Chairwoman (Via Certified U.S. Mail)
Fond du Lac Reservation Business Committee
Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa
1720 Big Lake Road
Cloquet, MN 55720

A. Notification of Violation

The National Indian Gaming Commission (the “NIGC”) Chairwoman gives notice that
the Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa (the “Band™) entered into and operated
under a series of agreements that grant the City of Duluth, Minnesota (the “City”) an
unlawful proprietary interest in the Band’s gaming activity and prevent the Band from
possessing the sole responsibility for the gaming activity.

The agreements as written, and as the parties operated under them, violate the Indian
Gaming Regulatory Act (“IGRA”), 25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A); NIGC regulations, 25
C.F.R. §§ 522.4(b)(1) and 522.6(c); and the Band’s gaming ordinance, Fond du Lac
Gaming Ordinance § 401. Specifically, the relevant agreements, all dated June 20, 1994,
include: Sublease and Assignment of Gaming Rights Agreement; Tribal-City Accord;
and Amendments to the Commission Agreement (the “1994 Agreements™).

This notice of violation (NOV) is not issued lightly.' In 1994, NIGC’s first Chairman,
Anthony Hope, wrote a letter to the parties stating that NIGC reviewed the agreements at
issue here and found they were consistent with IGRA. Chairman Hope’s review of the
agreements, which appears to have been completed over the course of three days, was the
NIGC’s second involvement with IGRA’s mandate that tribes retain the “sole proprietary
interest” in their gaming activity.” Four days later, Chairman Hope sent a two page

' I am aware that the Band has sought relief from the consent decree involving this matter. City of Duluth v.
Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa, 708 F.Supp.2d 890 (D.MN 2010). In that case, the Court
concluded, “[i]t may be that the arrangement between the Band and the City violates the IGRA in the eyes
of the NIGC. But until the NIGC initiates an enforcement action regarding the Fond du Luth Casino and
proceeds with that action to a final decision on the substantive issue of proprietary interest, this Court's
view would constitute an advisory opinion.” /d. at 902-903.

? The first involvement appears to have occurred less than a year earlier and involved agreements between
the Band and the City entered into in 1986. Chairman Hope found that under the 1986 Agreements “the



“Report and Recommendation™ to the District Court, stating that the agreements were
consistent with IGRA. Unfortunately, Chairman Hope’s letter to the parties and his
“Report and Recommendation” to the District Court do not contain any substantive

analysis of the issues to support his statement that the agreements were consistent with
IGRA.

Based on NIGC’s application of the sole proprietary interest requirement, I find that the
1994 Agreements violate IGRA. Tribes, not third parties, are to possess the sole
proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming activity and to be the primary
beneficiaries of that activity. 25 U.S.C. §§ 2710(b)(2)(A); 2702(2). As discussed in more
detail below, NIGC’s application of the sole proprietary interest requirement essentially
examines three criteria: 1) the term of the relationship; 2) the amount of revenue paid to
the third party; and 3) the right of control provided to the third party over the gaming
activity. Since the NIGC'’s inception, neither the NIGC Chair nor the Commission has
approved any agreement, management or otherwise, under terms similar to the
agreements at issue here.

In a 1993 letter to the Band and the City, Chairman Hope stated that agreements executed
by the parties in 1986 involving this gaming operation violated IGRA’s sole proprietary
interest requirement. A close review of the 1994 Agreements demonstrates that they
incorporate many of the primary terms of the 1986 agreements that Chairman Hope
stated violated IGRA. The 1986 agreements provided for a 25 year term with a 25 year
renewal period. The 1994 Agreements effectively pick up the remainder of the term
established in the 1986 agreements. The 1994 Agreements have a 43 year term under
which for the first 18 years the Band pays 19% of gross revenues from video games of
chance to the City, with an undetermined percentage of gross revenues to be paid to the
City over the twenty five year term from 2011 to 2036. The 1986 Agreements provided
for the City to receive 24.4% of the net revenues from all gaming activities. Payments
made by the Tribe to the City pursuant to the 1994 Agreements to rent the Tribe’s own
trust land appears to have actually exceeded the amounts the City would have received
under the 1986 Agreements. From approximately June 1994 to August 2009, the Band
paid the City approximately $75,000,000 to rent the Band’s own trust land. In return, the
City agreed not to enter into any other gaming ventures within 250 miles of Duluth.
Under the 1994 Agreements, the City maintains the authority to veto any amendments to
the Band’s gaming ordinance applicable to the Fond du Luth casino and has the right to
review and object to the Band’s licensing decisions. As discussed in more detail below,
the 1994 Agreements carry forward the substantive provisions of the 1986 Agreements
Chairman Hope found to violate IGRA.

Band does not have the sole ownership or control of the Fond Du Luth Casino. ... [T]he casino is
operated as a joint venture in which the City has a significant ownership interest in the gaming operation
and has substantial control over operations." See September 24, 1993 Letter from Chairman Anthony J.
Hope to Chairman Robert Peacock and Mayor Gary Doty.



B. Authority

Under IGRA and NIGC regulations, the Chairwoman may issue a NOV to any person for
violation of any provision of the IGRA, NIGC regulations, or an approved tribal gaming
ordinance or resolution. 25 U.S.C. § 2713(a); 25 C.F.R. § 573.3(a).

C. Applicable Federal and Tribal Laws

1.

!\J

IGRA requires that to lawfully operate Indian gaming, a tribe must have a
tribal gaming ordinance approved by the Chairwoman. 25 U.S.C. §§
2710(b)(1)(B), (A(1)(A).

IGRA requires that the tribal gaming ordinance provide that the tribe
“have the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the conduct of
any gaming activity.” 25 U.S.C. §§ 2710(b)(2)(A), (d)(1)(A)(ii).

. NIGC regulations require that a tribe’s gaming ordinance provide that “the

tribe shall have the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the
conduct of any gaming operation.” 25 C.F.R. §§ 522.4(b)(1), 522.6(c).

The Band’s ordinance approved by NIGC Chairman Anthony Hope on
September 23, 1993, provides that the Band will have the “sole proprietary
interest in and responsibility for the conduct of any gaming operation
authorized by this Ordinance.” Fond du Lac Ordinance § 401.

IGRA provides that class III gaming operations are only lawful if
conducted pursuant to an ordinance that meets the requirements of 25
U.S.C. § 2710(b). 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(1)(A)(ii).

Failure to comply with any provision of IGRA, NIGC regulations, or an
approved tribal gaming ordinance is grounds for issuance of an NOV. 25
U.S.C. § 2713; 25 C.F.R. § 573.3(a).

D. Circumstances of the Violation

Background

The 1986 Agreements

In 1986, the Band and the City entered into agreements whereby the parties would be co-
owners of a gaming operation on a parcel of trust land held by the Band in the City.’
However, just two years later IGRA was enacted, calling into question the legality of the
agreements due to the fact that IGRA mandates that tribes have the sole proprietary
interest in and responsibility for their gaming activity.

* The 1986 agreements that contain provisions carried forward in the 1994 Agreements are a Commission
Agreement and a Business Lease both dated April 1, 1986 (“the 1986 Agreements”™).



In 1989, the Band filed suit in the United States District Court for the District of
Minnesota alleging the agreements violated IGRA. On November 2, 1990, William
Lavell, Department of the Interior Associate Solicitor for Indian Affairs, issued a letter
opining that the 1986 Agreements violated IGRA’s requirement that the Band have the
sole proprietary interest in the gaming activity. This opinion relied on a number of
factors, including the substantial amount of net profits, the City’s access to records and
that the casino was operated by the Fond Duluth Economic Development Commission
(the “Development Commission™) comprised of representatives of both the City and the
Band. The Development Commission had the power to “license, regulate, and operate
bingo and other gaming.” Solicitor Lavell’s opinion noted that the Development
Commission held “substantial control over the gaming facility” and further explained
that:

Both the Band and the City have access to the books and
records of the Commission, and the Commission is
obligated to provide both parties financial records, profit
and loss statements, and other requested financial
statements. Sections 13(b) and (c¢). More importantly, the
City received 24.5% of the net profits from the gaming
while the Band receives 25.5%. Section 14(c). The City’s
share of the net revenues does not constitute compensation
for services rendered as the management contractor for the
Band’s casino but rather constitutes the City’s share of the
profits as a co-owner of the gaming facility.

The City asserted “that only the chairman of the newly created National Indian Gaming
Commission may review the agreements.” The District Court dismissed the suit without
prejudice on December 26, 1990 to allow the Chairman of the newly formed NIGC to
review the agreements.

On September 24, 1993, NIGC Chairman Hope sent a letter to the Band and the City
stating that the 1986 Agreements violated IGRA’s mandate that the Band maintain the
sole proprietary interest in the gaming operation. Chairman Hope’s analysis in this letter
was consistent with Solicitor Lavell’s opinion. Specifically, Chairman Hope summarized:

[T]t is apparent that under the Commission Agreement
creating the Fond Duluth Economic Development
Commission (Commission), the Band does not have the
sole ownership or control of the Fond Du Luth Casino. In
fact, under this Agreement the casino is operated as a joint
venture in which the City has a significant ownership
interest in the gaming operation and has substantial control
over operations. . . . The City’s assertion that, because the
Commission is designated as a political subdivision of the
Band, the tribe has the sole control of the Fond du Luth



operation, is plainly contradicted by the fact that the Band
is unable to unilaterally abolish, regulate or control the
Commission. To the contrary, the terms of the
Commission Agreement require joint decision making as
well as shared profits and access to books and records.

Chairman Hope deferred enforcement action for 30 days to allow the parties to negotiate
a resolution. NIGC convened discussions between the parties, and the Band and the City
negotiated the 1994 Agreements.

NIGC review of 1994 Agreements

By letter dated June 13, 1994, the parties submitted to NIGC the settlement agreement
resulting from their negotiations. Three days later, on June 16, 1994, Chairman Hope
wrote a letter to the parties stating: “We have reviewed the proposed settlement and have
concluded that this agreement returns full ownership and control of the Fond du Luth
Casino to the Band and is consistent with the requirements of IGRA.” The letter
contained only this conclusive statement with no supporting analysis.” Basically, the
letter articulated Chairman Hope’s conclusion to not initiate an enforcement action.

The parties then reached a settlement of the lawsuit. On June 20, 1994, Chairman Hope
wrote a letter, entitled “Report and Recommendation of the National Indian Gaming
Commission,” to the Honorable Judge Magnuson even though NIGC was not a party to
the litigation. Chairman Hope wrote “to report that the settlement agreement recently
concluded between the Fond du Lac Band and the City of Duluth returns ownership and
control of the Fond du Luth Casino to the Band and is fully consistent with IGRA.
Accordingly, I recommend that this settlement agreement be approved.” Chairman
Hope’s letter contained only this conclusive statement with no analysis to support it. The
Court subsequently issued a Stipulation and Consent Order.

As discussed in more detail below, Chairman Hope’s decision not to initiate an
enforcement action is inconsistent with his 1993 letter given that the 1994 Agreements
contain many “carried forward™ provisions that are substantively identical to the 1986
Agreements. The focus of my concern is on these same provisions which provide an
extraordinarily long term, an unjustified high level of compensation, and third party
control over aspects of the gaming activity.

Current Review by NIGC and Positions of the Parties

On May 17, 2010, as the first term of the 1994 Agreements was coming to conclusion,
the Fond du Lac Band of Superior Chippewa Indians wrote to NIGC requesting that the
NIGC Chair mediate a dispute involving the Sublease and Assignment of Gaming Rights
Agreement between the Band and the City of Duluth, Minnesota. The mediation request
was made pursuant to the Sublease, which provides that if the parties do not reach

‘As part of our review of this matter, NIGC staff members performed a search of Commission records and
were unable to locate any analysis associated with this letter.



agreement concerning the renegotiation of the percentage of gross revenue to be paid for
the period commencing April 1, 2011, the parties may request the NIGC Chairman
mediate for purposes of attempting to bring the parties to agreement. See Sublease and
Assignment of Gaming Rights Agreement, Sec. 4.2.2.5. The Sublease further provides
that if the Chairman “refuses to mediate . . . the Band and the City shall submit the
dispute to binding arbitration . . . .” Id. On August 13, 2010, I wrote to the Band and the
City informing them that I declined to mediate this issue, because it would most likely be
unproductive.

By letter dated August 16, 2010, the Band requested that the NIGC reexamine the 1994
Agreements to determine whether or not the changes to the 1986 agreements, as
‘memorialized in the 1994 Agreements, conform to IGRA. Thus, the near conclusion of
the first term under the 1994 Agreements and the Band’s request for review triggered
NIGC’s present review. By letter dated October 20, 2010, the City and the Band were
advised that the 1994 Agreements would be examined by NIGC. For that purpose, the
letter requested the parties provide their views of the 1994 Agreements by November 19,
2010. Both parties timely submitted their views.

In its submission, the Band argues that the 1994 Agreements violate IGRA’s mandate
that the Band retain the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming
activity. Additionally, the Band views payments to the City as an improper tax on
gaming. The Band bases this conclusion on its view that the rental payment is a sham
designed to hide the true relationship between the parties. As support for this view, the
Band states that not only is it paying rent on a parcel it owns but that the rental payment
far exceeds rental rates in Duluth and the casino does not receive services from the City
above the services received by any other commercial businesses. Additionally, the Band
highlights the long term of the agreement, the fact that rent is paid before expenses are
paid, and that the City offered no meaningful services in exchange for the rent. Finally,
the Band points out that the City holds veto authority over any amendments to the
gaming ordinance that apply to the casino.

The City’s view is that the 1994 Agreements are analogous to a tribal-state compact.
Tribal-state compacts are approved by the Department of the Interior pursuant to 25
U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8). The City retained Dr. Alan P. Meister to conduct a study of compact
terms found in tribal-state compacts. Dr. Meister concluded that the 1994 Agreements’
terms were consistent with tribal-state compacts in regard to compensation, term, access
to financial records, and controls on gaming regulation. According to the City, the
payment to the City was designed to reflect approximately one-third of the casino’s net
revenue. The City notes that the 1994 Agreements were entered into before the Band
entered a compact with the State of Minnesota and therefore the exclusivity granted to the
Band was valuable consideration for the rental payments. Additionally, the City points to
the fact that it supported the Band’s trust acquisition of the casino property in 1986,
condemned property to build a parking ramp for the casino, paid the Band to manage a
parking ramp under an agreement that expired on December 31, 2010, and agreed not to
enter into any similar agreements with another Indian tribe. Finally, the City argues that



the revenue paid to it by the Band is not a tax because it was negotiated by the parties,
rather than being imposed upon the Band by the City.

E. Summary of Violation

Based on a thorough review of the parties’ submissions and the 1994 Agreements, I
conclude that the 1994 Agreements, as written and as implemented, violate IGRA’s
mandate that the Band retain the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for its
gaming activity.

Share of the Profits and Term

As discussed, the 1986 Agreements created an economic development commission to
manage the gaming operation. The commission was comprised of four members from the
Band and three members appointed by the City. The Band received 25.5% of the net
revenues and the City received 24.5%. The remaining 50% of the net revenues went to
the Development Commission to be used for development on the Band’s reservation and
within downtown Duluth.

The 1994 Agreements changed the percentages of revenue distribution, with the City
retaining 19% of gross revenues and the Tribe receiving the remainder. Based on this
change, the City appears to have actually received more money than it would have under
the 1986 Agreements. This apparent increase in revenue was most likely a result of the
City’s share being based on the gross revenues rather than net revenues.

While the structure of the economic development commission was changed in the 1994
Agreements by limiting its membership to the Mayor of the City and the Band’s Chair,
the 1994 Agreements require the Band to lease its trust land on which the casino is
situated from the commission in exchange for a rent of 19% of the gross revenue from
video games of chance. All of the rent payments are permanently assigned from the
commission to the City. This structure appears deliberately designed to disguise
payments of revenue of the casino to the City as rent payments. The Band is paying rent
on a property it already owns and, according to the Summary Appraisal Report supplied
by the Band, for a far higher rental rate than market rental rates.

The 1986 Agreements were for a term of 25 years with an automatic 25 year renewal
unless the commission was dissolved. The initial term of the 1994 Agreements was for
17 years, which has expired. Nonetheless, under the 1994 Agreements, the City is
entitled to an extension for an additional 25 years. The result is that the City will have a
role in the Band’s gaming, and certain control over it, for an extremely long period of
time. In fact, exactly the same end date as envisioned in the 1986 Agreements.

In sum, while some of the financial terms and the business structure changed between the
1986 and 1994 Agreements, it is apparent that the long term of the agreements stayed the
same while the City’s share of the casino revenue appears to have increased. I am aware
that the Band and the City are currently involved in arbitration to determine the rental



rate for the second term. Regardless of the outcome of this arbitration, it is my view that
performance under the 1994 Agreements will prevent the Band from maintaining the sole
proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming activity. While the percentage of
income paid to the City is an important factor in my decision, as detailed below, it is not
the only factor. A reduction in the fee will not remedy fees paid over the last 17 years, the
additional twenty-five year term and the regulatory responsibility and control issues.

Regulatory Responsibility and Control over the Gaming Facility

The 1994 Agreements also grant the City the power to review and consent to any changes
to the Band’s gaming ordinance and regulations. See 1994 Tribal — City Accord
(“Accord™). The Accord “governs the Band’s conduct of gaming activities™ at the Fond
Du Luth casino. Specifically, the Accord provides that the Band may not modify its
gaming ordinance or regulations, as they apply to the Fond Du Luth casino, unless the
City of Duluth consents to the modification or the modification is required by Federal law
or a tribal-state compact. See Accord § 6(c). Further, the Accord provides the City with
the right to review and object to the Band’s licensing decisions. See Accord § 26(j). One
of the primary purposes of IGRA is to provide a statutory basis for tribes to regulate their
own gaming activity. See 25 U.S.C. § 2702(2). The licensing of key employees and
primary management officials is a core component of that regulatory responsibility. Thus,
the City’s power to directly control the regulation of the Band’s gaming activity infringes
on the Band’s authority as confirmed by Congress. Accordingly, the Band does not retain
the sole proprietary interest in, and responsibility for, the gaming activity.

Access to Records

Section 16 of the Tribal-City Accord requires the Band to provide the City’s
representative access to review and copy any and all records of the gaming operation.
This level of access is unusual considering that IGRA does not grant the City any role in
the regulation of Indian gaming.” This level of access is the type usually afforded to a
business partner. Indeed, Chairman Hope found that this level of access provided for in
the 1986 Agreements violated IGRA. See September 24, 1993, Letter from Chairman
Anthony Hope to Chairman Robert Peacock and Mayor Gary Doty.

* It is also broader access than needed for the City to verify that it is receiving the correct percentage of
revenue.



Comparison of 1986 & 1994 Agreements

As summarized in the chart below, the substantive terms of the 1986 and 1994
Agreements are almost identical.

1986 Agreements

1994 Agreements

Term

25 years with automatic 25
year extension

(1986 — 2036, 50 years)®

17 years with an automatic
25 year extension’ 7
(1994 - 2036, 42 years)®

Compensation to City

24.5% of net’

19% of gross'*
(approximately 26% to 33%
of net)

Regulation of Gaming

Joint control between City
and Tribe''

Ordinance and Regulations

' may only be amended with

approval of the City.*The
City has the right to review
and object to licensing
determinations.’

Access to Records

City retains right to access'

City retains right to access'

The City has conceded as much, highlighting the fact that many provisions from the 1986
Agreements were “carried forward in the 1994 Agreements.” See City Brief at 11.

Specifically, the City points to the exclusivity provision under which it is prevented from
entering a similar agreement with another Indian tribe.

It is my conclusion that the 1994 Agreements carry forward more than just discrete
provisions of the 1986 Agreements but rather carry forward the joint venture intent
embodied in the 1986 Agreements. The parties share in the profits, with the City
assuming no risk, providing no services commensurate with the payments received and
the City retains control over the gaming operation.

First, the 1994 Agreements continue the profit sharing mechanism of the 1986
Agreements. The City’s condemnation of the land, construction of a parking garage, and
support of the trust acquisition all occurred well before the 1994 Agreements. Such
actions by the City are not continuing and do not amount to quantifiable “services”
bearing a rational relationship to the $75 million dollars provided by the Tribe over the

past 17 years.

® See 1986 Business Lease Agreement § 4.

7 See 1994 Sublease and Assignment of Gaming Rights § 3.1.

¥ This agreement is retroactive to September 30, 1993. Id.

? See 1986 Commission Agreement § 14(c).

' See 1994 Sublease and Assignment of Gaming Rights § 4.2.2.2.
"' See 1986 Commission Agreement § 11.

12 See 1994 Tribal-City Accord §§ 6, 26.

13 See 1994 Tribal-City Accord § 26(j).

"* See 1986 Commission Agreement § 13.

15 See 1994 Tribal-City Accord § 16.




Even in the context of a tribal-state compact, which is specifically provided for by IGRA,
support of a trust acquisition is not of tangible economic benefit justifying a share of
gaming revenue. On March 7, 2002, the Secretary of the Interior disapproved a compact
between the Jena Band of Choctow Indians and the State of Louisiana under which the
State was to receive 15.5% of the Jena Band’s net revenues in exchange for the State’s
support for a trust acquisition. The Assistant Secretary of Indian Affairs noted that the
location of the trust acquisition would “yield a substantial economic benefit to the Band”
but disapproved the compact because:

In our view, the intangible value of the State’s support for
the Band’s application to take land in trust in Vinton,
Louisiana, and have the parcel declared part of the Band’s
initial reservation for purposes of Section 20 of IGRA, is
not the type of quantifiable economic benefit that would
justify our approval of the revenue-sharing payments
proposed under this Compact.

See March 7, 2002, Letter from Assistant Secretary — Indian Affairs Neal McCaleb to
Tribal Chief B. Cheryl Smith.

Second, the City’s comparison of the 1994 Agreements with tribal-state compacts is
misplaced and unpersuasive. Under IGRA, tribal-state compacts are fundamentally
different than the agreements at issue here. Cities are not parties to such compacts. By
law, compacts between an Indian tribe and a state provide for regulation of class III
gaming. Interior has approved some compacts that provide for a share of the net revenue
if the State provides an on-going tangible benefit such as exclusivity from non-Indian
gaming. Here, the City’s reliance on the exclusivity granted under the 1994 Agreements
is particularly dubious. The 250 mile area of exclusivity could not prevent another Indian
tribe or a non-Indian entity from operating gaming because the City’s jurisdiction does
not extend beyond the City’s limits. A city cannot step into a state’s shoes for purposes of
a compact, as it simply lacks the authority to do so. The City admitted as much, stating
that “municipalities are, under IGRA, statutorily different than states.” Thus, any similarity
between the terms of the 1994 Agreements and any compact is irrelevant to the analysis
here. IGRA’s requirements relating to the terms of a compact are controlled by 25

U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3), whereas the 1994 Agreements are found to violate a wholly separate
requirement of IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A).

Despite the City’s recognition that municipalities are different than states, it argues that
payments made by the Band to the City are allowable under IGRA because

§ 2710 permits tribes to fund local government operations out of net gaming revenues.
While funding local government operations is an allowable use of net gaming revenue, in
this instance the payments to the City are from gross gaming revenue. More importantly,
just because it may be a proper use does not mean that the 1994 Agreements conform to
IGRA’s mandate that the Band have the sole proprietary interest in its gaming activity.
IGRA’s sole proprietary interest mandate is violated by the high amount of revenue being

10



conveyed to the City, the length of the term of the 1994 Agreements, and the City’s right
of control over the regulation of the gaming under the 1994 Agreements.

As noted above, with the exception of this matter, since the NIGC’s inception, neither the
NIGC Chair nor the Commission has approved any agreement, management or
otherwise, under terms similar to the 1994 Agreements. When Chairman Hope stated
that the 1994 agreements were consistent with IGRA and did not initiate an enforcement
action, it appears that the NIGC had only reviewed the 1986 agreements under the sole
proprietary interest mandate. Indeed, Chairman Hope’s brief letters do not provide any
analysis supporting his statement. Further, Chairman Hope’s recommendation to the
U.S. District Court could not constitute a formal agency approval of the 1994
Agreements because IGRA limits the Chair authority to approval of tribal gaming
ordinances and management contracts. See 25 U.S.C. §§ 2710(e) and 2711(b). Thus, the
1994 Agreements fall outside of any review under IGRA because they are not an
ordinance or management contract.

Finally, I disagree with the City’s position that enforcement at this time would ignore the
policies underlying IGRA and create a new remedy. The NIGC is the agency Congress
charged with enforcing the provisions of IGRA and approved tribal ordinances. 25 U.S.C.
§ 2713. Therefore, I may appropriately exercise my enforcement discretion regarding
these violations.

NIGC agency action & NIGC OGC legal opinions — sole proprietary interest

“Proprietary interest” is not defined in the IGRA or NIGC regulations. However,
“proprietary interest” must be construed in favor of protecting tribal interests and
consistent with IGRA’s purpose that tribes are to be the primary beneficiaries of the
gaming activity. See Rincon Band of Luiseno Indians v. Schwarzenegger, 602 F.3d 1019,
1029 n. 9 (9" Cir. 2010). IGRA’s legislative history supports the Agency’s application of
“proprietary interest,” stating that “the tribe must be the sole owner of the gaming
enterprise.” S. Rep. 100-446, 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3071-3106, 3078. “Enterprise” is
defined as “a business venture or undertaking”. Black’s Law Dictionary, 7% Edition
(1999). Despite the brevity of this legislative history, Congress’ intent of “proprietary
interest” appears to be consistent with the commonly understood meaning of proprietary
interest, while emphasizing the notion that entities other than tribes are not to share in the
ownership of gaming enterprises.

Black’s Law Dictionary defines “proprietary interest” as “the interest held by a property
owner together with all appurtenant rights . . .” Black’s Law Dictionary, 7 Edition
(1999). “Owner” is defined as “one who has the right to possess, use and convey
something.” Id. Appurtenant is defined as “belonging to; accessory or incident to .. . .
Id.

*

Case law defines “proprietary interest” as “one who has an interest in, control of, or
present use of certain property.” Evans v. United States, 349 F.2d 653 (5™ Cir. 1965). As
one court explained:

11



It is not necessary that a partnership exist. It is only
necessary that a plaintiff have some proprietary interest. . .
One would have a proprietary interest if he were sharing in
or deriving profit from the club as opposed to being a
salaried employee merely performing clerical and
ministerial duties.

Dondlinger v. United States, 1970 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12693 (D. Neb. 1970)(emphasis
added).

Secondary sources also shed light on the IGRA’s use of “proprietary interest.” American
Jurisprudence explains the difference between having a proprietary interest and being
compensated for services in the context of determining when a joint venture exists:

Where a contract provides for the payment of a share of the
profits of an enterprise, in consideration of services
rendered in connection with it, the question is whether it is
merely as a measure of compensation for such services or

whether the agreement extends bevond that and provides

for a proprietary interest in the subject matter out of which
the profits arise and for an ownership in the profits
themselves. If the payment constitutes merely
compensation, the parties bear to each other, generally
speaking, the relationship of principal and agent, or in some
instances that of employer and employee [footnote
omitted]. On the other hand. a proprietary interest or
control may be evidence of a joint venture. [footnote
omitted] [emphasis added]

46 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 57. (footnote omitted and emphasis added). A joint venture is
*“an association of persons with the intent . . . to engage in and carry out a single business
venture for joint profit for which such persons combine their property, money, efforts,
skill, and knowledge without creating a partnership or a corporation.” 46 Am. Jur. 2d
Joint Ventures § 1.

When the Commission promulgated regulations requiring tribal gaming ordinances
include the mandate that tribes retain the sole proprietary interest and responsibility for
the conduct of any gaming activity, the Commission decided not to define proprietary
interest. Rather, it decided to “provide guidance in specific circumstances.” See 58 Fed.
Reg 5804 (Jan. 22, 1993). Thus, the NIGC’s application of IGRA’s sole proprietary
interest requirement has developed over the Agency’s existence. See Letter from NIGC
Chairman Hogen to Senate Committee on Indian Affairs Chairman McCain, Vice-
Chairman Dorgan and Senator Inouye Regarding Contract Review and IGRA’s Sole
Proprietary Interest Requirement (Feb. 1, 2005) (2005 SCIA Letter).

12



The 1994 Agreements are contrary to the Agency’s articulation of the sole proprietary
interest requirement. In 2007, the NIGC Chairman took enforcement action against an
illegal manager of an Indian gaming facility for violating the sole proprietary interest
mandate. See Notice of Violation #07-02 (May 16, 2007). The 2007 notice of violation
was based on an outside entity’s control over many aspects of the daily operation of a
tribal gaming facility and the high level of compensation. In that action, the individual
was found to be managing the blackjack operation without an approved management
contract. The individual received 40% of the blackjack revenues and 20% of the net win
from gaming machine revenue.

Additionally, earlier this year I took action against a Tribe and a manager of an Indian
gaming facility for violating IGRA’s requirement that a tribe “have the sole proprietary
interest in and responsibility for the conduct of any gaming activity.” See Notice of
Violation # NOV-11-01. In that matter, a non-tribal entity was operating an off-track
betting operation for a five-year term and receiving more than 70% of the net revenue.

Further, since 2003 the OGC issued over 50 legal opinions analyzing the mandate. After
receiving such legal opinions, the parties, when necessary, often amend such agreements
to avoid an enforcement action. OGC legal opinions concerning the sole proprietary
interest mandate have focused primarily on three criteria in its analysis of the
requirement. The opinions examine: 1) the term of the relationship; 2) the amount of
revenue paid to the third party; and 3) right of control over the gaming activity provided
to the third party. These criteria are consistent with the commonly understood definition
of “proprietary interest.”

Accordingly, final agency actions by NIGC and OGC legal opinions have found an
improper proprietary interest in agreements under which a party, other than a tribe,
receives a high level of compensation, for a long period of time, and possesses some
aspect of control. The compensation in these instances was typically based on a
significant percentage of net gaming revenue'® and often had terms beyond 5 years. See
April 22, 2004 Letter from OGC to Eric Mason.

Similar to this matter, OGC has analyzed other agreements that provide for rental
payments based on a percentage of gaming revenue. /d. In 2003, the OGC issued an
opinion finding that a contractor had obtained a proprietary interest in a tribe’s gaming
activity. Seef? OGC Letter to E ' |In that situation, the tribe was
required to pay 35% of its net gaming revenue as rent for a period of ten years. The OGC
opined:

Although the 35% payment is called a “rent incentive”
payment, this label mischaracterizes what is really a profit-
sharing arrangement. The money is going to[b for
“renting” a building and equipment to the Tribe — both of
which the Tribe had already paid for by September of 2000,

' The IGRA defines net revenues as “gross revenues of an Indian gaming activity less amounts paid out as,
or paid for, prizes and total operating expenses, excluding management fees.” See 25 U.S.C. 2703(9).
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six months after the Casino opened — on land that is trust
land. In other words, the documents enable[ ajko collect |

a large amount of money, over a lengthy period of time, for JDL][
doing nothing — performing no ongoing services for the

Tribe, and, once the original costs of building, equipping

and financing were paid, giving the Tribe nothing in return.

Id at 5. This case was highlighted by former Chair Hogen to the Senate Committee on
Indian Affairs as an example of a violation of IGRA’s sole proprietary interest mandate.
2005 SCIA Letter at 5. Chair Hogen further cited “an even more egregious example”
under which a tribe made substantial payments for a five year term followed by “a 10-
year obligation to pay 16% of gross revenue[.]” Id.

However, in some instances the OGC opined that the high level of compensation and the
long term were warranted because of the risk assumed by the third party or because of the
nature of the services. See October 18, 2005 OGC Letter to Arnold Samuel. Specifically,
in one instance, the OGC stated:

When we are presented with contracts, such as this one,
where the developer is receiving a high level of
compensation for a long period of time, we are compelled
to examine whether or not the agreement gives the
Developer a proprietary interest in the gaming operation.
In our analysis we look to factors such as the risk to the
developer, the ability of the Tribe to acquire other
financing, and what services, if any, the Tribe is receiving
in return for agreeing to the terms of the contract.

Id at 2.

In its sole proprietary interest analysis, OGC also examines control over the regulatory
functions of the tribe, such as licensing. See Mason Letter at 5. The right of control over
tribal regulatory decisions is an indicator that the tribe is not maintaining sole
responsibility for the conduct of the gaming.

The same indicia of a proprietary interest found in those instances - the long term, high
compensation with little or no risk, and control - are embodied in the 1994 Agreements.
Indeed, the 1994 Agreements’ terms in these key respects are more egregious than the
examples former Chair Hogen highlighted to the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs and
many of the agreements reviewed by OGC concluding that they violated IGRA’s
requirement that a tribe have the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the
conduct of any gaming activity.

Based on the factors described herein, specifically, the high level of compensation
coupled with a long term as well as control over the gaming regulation, I conclude that
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the 1994 Agreements violate IGRA’s mandate that the Band retain the sole proprietary
interest in and responsibility for the gaming activity.

In summary, the facts below demonstrate the Tribe’s violation of IGRA’s requirement
that the Tribe retain the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming

activity.

E.

%)

10.

11.

Facts of Violation

. The Band is a federally recognized Indian tribe.

The Band operates the Fond du Luth Casino (“the Casino”) located in
Duluth, Minnesota on land placed into trust prior to October 17, 1988.

. The Casino opened on April 1, 1986 and has continued in operation since

that time.

In 1989, the Band and the State of Minnesota entered into a compact that
was approved by the Secretary of the Interior.

On June 20, 1994, as part of a settlement agreement, the Band and the City
entered into the 1994 Agreements.

The 1994 Agreements included, but were not limited to, the following:
Sublease and Assignment of Gaming Rights Agreement; Tribal-City
Accord; and Amendments to the Commission Agreement.

The Band and the City filed with the United States District Court for the
District of Minnesota a Stipulation and Consent Order seeking the Court’s
approval of the 1994 Agreements and issuance of the Consent Order.

On July 28, 1994, the Court signed the Stipulation and Consent Order.

From June 1994 through August 2009, the Band and the City operated
pursuant to the 1994 Agreements.

Section 1(i)(a) of the Commission Amendment created a Developmerit
Commission comprised of the Mayor of the City and the Chairperson of
the Band.

Section 4 of the Sublease requires the Band to pay the Development
Commission rent for a building that the Band owns located on a parcel
that is held in trust by the United States for its benefit.



12.

Section 3.8 of the Sublease provides that rental payments under the
Sublease have been permanently assigned from the Development
Commission to the City and are paid directly to the City.

13. The initial term of the Sublease is from September 30, 1993 until March
31, 2011.

14. Section 3.10f the Sublease provides that it is to run for an additional 25
year term after March 31, 2011 and the Sublease will expire in 2036.

15. The long term of this agreement is a factor that demonstrates the City’s
proprietary interest in the Band’s gaming activity and that the Band does
not have the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming
activity.

16. Section 4.2 of the Sublease requires the Band to pay rent in an amount
equal to 19 percent of gross revenues from video games of chance for the
initial term of 17 years.

17. The rental rate for the extended term of 25 years will be determined
according to the terms of section 4.2.2.5 of the Sublease.

18. Rent payments made under the Sublease are placed in an account that can
be spent on the general operations for the City without regard to any
provision of services from the City to the Tribe.

19. The following table shows the division of gaming revenues for the Casino
from 1994 through 2008.

Year Gaming Net Rent paid to City | Rentas
Income percentage of
Net Revenue
1994 9,336,421.93 2,737,225.28 29.32%
1995 12,183,933.00 3,275,862.73 26.89%
1996 13,117,265.55 3,487,524.67 26.59%
1997 14,347,797.57 3,898,595.29 27.17%
1998 15,412,276.33 4,221,993.82 27.39%
1999 17,015,919.21 4.636,790.23 27.25%
2000 17,071,089.31 4,838,070.35 28.34%
2001 16,873,265.32 5,115,645.02 30.32%
2002 18,693,568.61 5,521,705.82 29.54%
2003 18,345,039.78 5,440,224.68 29.66%
2004 19.,490,796.19 | 5,653,522.89 28.01%
2005 19.322907.37 | 5,608,777.39 29.03%
2006 18,819,221.77 5.844,786.65 31.05%
2007 20,245,652.18 6.415,459.89 31.69%
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| 2008 | 18,329,290.43 | 6,137,694.33 | 33.49% |

20.

Between June 1994 and August 6, 2009, the Band paid the City
approximately $75,874,407.66 to rent its own building on trust property
held for its benefit by the United States.

. The City assumed no financial or other risk in the development of the

casino and the 1994 Agreements do not convey any substantial benefits to
the Tribe. The high level of compensation and lack of financial or other
risk by the City is a factor that demonstrates the Band does not have the
sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming activity.

. On August 6, 2009, the Band ceased making payments to the City

pursuant to Band Resolution #1316/09.

. The payments the City receives are a factor that demonstrates it has a

proprietary interest in the gaming activity and that the Band does not have
the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for the gaming activity.

. According to information received from the Band and the City, the Casino

receives the same level of municipal services that any other citizen or
business within the City would receive.

. Under section 3 of the 1994 Commission Amendments, the City has

agreed not to enter any agreement with another tribal government within
250 miles of the Duluth City Hall that is similar to the one entered into
with the Band without prior approval of the Band.

. No other federally recognized Tribe has lands eligible for gaming within

250 miles of the Duluth City Hall and no other gaming comparable to the
Band’s is permissible in Duluth.

. Section 6(c) of the Tribal-City Accord requires that any change in the

Band’s gaming ordinance or regulations will only be effective after the
City has consented in writing unless the change is required by federal law
or by Tribal-State compact.

. Section 16 of the Tribal-City Accord grants the City the right to review

and voice objections to the Band’s licensing of casino employees.

. City control over the gaming activity is a factor that demonstrates that the

Band does not have the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for
the gaming activity.
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30. Section 16 of the Tribal-City Accord requires the Band to provide a
representative of the City access to review and copy any and all records of
the gaming operations.

31. Unfettered access to records of the casino is a factor that demonstrates the
Band does not have the sole proprietary interest in and responsibility for
the gaming activity.

" Based on the totality of the above circumstances set forth above, the City possesses a
proprietary interest in the gaming operation and responsibility for the operation in
violation of IGRA, NIGC regulations, and the Fond du Lac Gaming Ordinance. See 25
U.S.C. 2710(b)(2)(A), (d)(1)(A)(ii); 25 C.F.R.§ 522.6(c); Fond du Lac Gaming
Ordinance § 401.

G. Measures Required to Correct the Violation

The Band must cease performance under the 1994 Agreements of those provisions
identified in this NOV as violating IGRA. This applies to the entire 42 year term of the
1994 Agreements.

H. Appeal

Within 30 days after service of this NOV, the Band may appeal to the full Commission
under 25 C.F.R. Part 577 by submitting a notice of appeal, and, if desired, request for
hearing to the National Indian Gaming Commission, 1441 L Street NW, Ninth Floor,
Washington, DC 20005. The Band has a right to assistance of counsel in such an appeal.
A notice of appeal must reference this Notice of Violation.

Within ten days after filing a notice of appeal, the Band must file with the Commission a
supplemental statement that states with particularity the relief desired and the grounds
therefore and that includes, when available, supporting evidence in the form of affidavits.
If the Band wishes to present oral testimony or witnesses at the hearing, the Band must
include a request to do so with the supplemental statement. The request to present oral
testimony or witnesses must specify the names of proposed witnesses and the general
nature of their expected testimony, whether a closed hearing is requested and why. The
Band may waive its right to an oral hearing and instead elect to have the matter
determined by the Commission solely on the basis of written submissions.
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I. Fine-Order of Temporarv Closure-Submission of Information

The violation cited above may result in the assessment of a civil fine against the Band in
an amount not to exceed $25,000 per violation per day. The violation cited above may
also result in the issuance of an order of temporary closure if the violation is not
corrected. Under 25 C.F.R. § 575.5(a), the Band may submit written information about
the violation to the Chairwoman within 15 days after service of this notice of violation
(or such longer period as the Chairwoman may grant for good cause). The Chairwoman
shall consider any information submitted in determining the facts surrounding the
violation and the amount of the civil fine, if any.

Dated this 12 of July, 2011

—_—

;/jf{(/ L

Tracie L. Stevens, Chairwoman

cc:  Henry Buffalo, Esq., Fond du Lac Band
Robert C. Maki Esq., City of Duluth
Shawn B. Reed, Esq., City of Duluth
Fond du Lac Tribal Gaming Commission
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